IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

RALPHS GROCERY COMPANY,

Plaintiff and Appellant

V.

UNITED FOOD AND COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION LOCAL 8.

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

OFC - 8 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District, Case No. C060413 (Sacramento Superior Court Case No. 34-2008-00008682-CU-OR-GDS, The Honorable Loren McMaster, Judge)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVIS, COWELL & BOWE, LLP

Richard G. McCracken (BAR No. 062058)
Steven L. Stemerman (BAR No. 067690)
Elizabeth A. Lawrence (BAR No. 111781)
Andrew J. Kahn (BAR No. 129776)
Paul L. More (BAR No. 228589)
Sarah Grossman-Swenson (BAR No. 259792)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court granted review on the following issues:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal err in concluding that the parking area and walkway in front of the entrance to plaintiff's retail store, which is part of a larger shopping center, do not constitute a public forum under *Robins v. Pruneyard Shopping Ctr.* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 899 and its progeny?
- 2. Do the Moscone Act (Code Civ. Proc. § 527.3) and Labor Code section 1138.1, which limit the availability of injunctive relief in labor disputes, violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution because they afford preferential treatment to speech concerning labor disputes over speech about other issues?

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner United Food & Commercial Workers Local 8 (the "Union") peacefully protested at a grocery store in a South Sacramento shopping center. The Union publicized the store's failure to pay adequate health benefits and urged customers to support a boycott. It shared the sidewalks and parking lot in front of the store with missionaries, vendors, political signature-gatherers and others who recognized the public character of the space. Although the Union's activity was orderly and caused no

damage to store property, Ralphs Grocery Company sought an injunction to prevent the Union (and only the Union) from communicating its message.

California's Legislature has passed two laws limiting state courts' jurisdiction to issue injunctions in cases arising out of labor disputes. The Moscone Act (Code Civ. Proc. § 527.3) and Labor Code § 1138.1 are modeled *verbatim* after the federal Norris-LaGuardia Act and other states' "little" Norris-LaGuardia statutes. They reflect the Legislature's reasoned conclusion—based on decades of federal and state experience—that labor disputes should be open to vigorous public debate and should be regulated primarily by executive-branch officers and tribunals, rather than the state's judiciary. The Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 are no different from countless federal and state laws that provide procedural safeguards or selectively reform common-law rules to insulate particular forms of speech from infringement. Unsurprisingly, courts—including this Court and the United States Supreme Court—have upheld such laws over constitutional challenge.

Reviewing the denial of a preliminary injunction, however, the Third Appellate District held that the Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Rewriting the doctrine of First Amendment content discrimination, the court concluded that the laws must be unconstitutional because they offer procedural protections in cases involving labor disputes

that do not apply in other types of cases. By making it more difficult to get an injunction against a union's speech, the court decided, the Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 violate Ralphs's First Amendment "right" not to be forced to accommodate speech with which it disagrees.

The errors in this reasoning are plain and their implications farreaching. The Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 primarily limit statecourt equity jurisdiction. The laws are fundamentally different from those
at issue in *Police Department v. Mosley* (1972) 408 U.S. 92 and *Carey v. Brown* (1980) 447 U.S. 455, the cases on which the Third Appellate

District relied. In those cases, the government flatly banned speech on
public sidewalks. The Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 do no such
thing; they limit state-court equity jurisdiction, not speech.

Ralphs's true complaint is not that it is being deprived of its right to free speech—it has never argued that its own speech rights were implicated—but that it is being denied access to the courts to enjoin *the Union* from speaking. Ralphs claims a constitutional right to a trespass cause of action and to the courts' equity jurisdiction.

But the Legislature may "create new rights or provide that rights which have previously existed shall no longer arise" and "it has been consistently held that the Legislature has power to determine what are grounds for equitable relief and when and under what circumstances injunctions may be granted." (Modern Barber Colleges v. Cal. Employ.

Com. (1948) 31 Cal.2d 720, 726, 727-28.) Litigants do not have a constitutional right to particular common-law causes of action or to specific equitable remedies. The Legislature may selectively revise state-law torts and create judicial procedures tailored to specific categories of cases, so long as it has a rational basis for doing so. (Cory v. Shierloh (1981) 29 Cal.3d 430, 439; Werner v. So. Cal. Assoc. Newspapers (1950) 35 Cal.2d 121, 130-31.)

To hold otherwise would preclude legislative revision of the common law on anything other than a universal basis and would threaten much federal and state law. Congress and California's Legislature regularly alter common-law rules that impede important societal goals, including the interest in protecting particular forms of speech. The fact that they do so selectively does not render the statutes unconstitutional.

For example, the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") and California's labor laws limit common-law trespass by requiring that employers grant employees worksite access to communicate about union matters, but not about politics or religion. (See *Beth Israel Hosp. v. NLRB* (1978) 437 U.S. 483, 491; *Agric. Labor Relations Bd. v. Super. Ct.* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 392, 400-411.) The Civil Code revises trespass rules by granting access to persons providing tenants with information about their rights, but not to those engaging in political door-knocking or commercial solicitation. (Civ. Code § 1942.6.) Whistleblower statutes prohibit employers from

firing employees—common-law employment-at-will notwithstanding—based upon the content of the employees' speech. (See, e.g., Lab. Code § 1102.5.) According to Ralphs and the Third Appellate District, these laws are unconstitutional because they do not apply to all speakers and all subjects.

Targeted procedural safeguards are equally common. Journalists and others enjoy statutory and judicial procedural protections in commonlaw defamation actions that are not extended to others. (See, e.g., Civ. Code § 48a.) Doctors, lawyers, and psychiatrists have content-based speech privileges under the Evidence Code. (See, e.g., Evid. Code § 950 *et seq.*) The Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 are no more discriminatory—and no less constitutional—than these and similar laws.

Nor are the Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 unconstitutional under the First Amendment's free-speech clause. Neither statute *abridges* anyone's speech, even indirectly. (See U.S. Const., amend. I ["Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech."].) A statute that does not abridge the right to engage in speech does not violate the First Amendment. (*Los Angeles Police Dept. v. United Reporting Publishing Corp.* (1999) 528 U.S. 32, 40.)

In order to bring a content-discrimination challenge to the statutes,
Ralphs was required to "demonstrate a substantial risk that the application
of the provision will lead to suppression of speech." (*Natl. Endowment for*

the Arts v. Finley (1998) 524 U.S. 569, 580.) It is "the government's ability to impose content-based burdens on speech that raises the specter that the government might effectively drive certain ideas or viewpoints from the marketplace." (Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of the N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd. (1991) 502 U.S. 105, 116 [emphasis added].) But neither the Moscone Act nor Labor Code § 1138.1 burdens or suppresses anyone's speech.

The only actor seeking to suppress speech is Ralphs, not the government. Ralphs wants to enjoin the Union's protest under the same standards that govern activity that does not involve a labor dispute. But neither Ralphs's invocation of common-law trespass nor its resort to the equity jurisdiction of California's courts is state action under the First and Fourteenth Amendments. (*Lloyd Corp. v. Tanner* (1972) 407 U.S. 551, 567; *Hudgens v. NLRB* (1976) 424 U.S. 507, 519-20; *Golden Gateway Ctr. v. Golden Gateway Tenants' Assn.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1013, 1034.) By contrast, *Mosley, supra*, 408 U.S. 92 and *Carey, supra*, 447 U.S. 455, the cases on which the Third Appellate District relied, involved *governmental restrictions* on speech in a public forum—the government banned demonstrators from picketing on public sidewalks. This was critical to both decisions.

The Third Appellate District recognized these basic differences between the laws at issue in *Mosley* and *Carey* and the California statutes it

struck down. (Ralphs Grocery Co. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Union Local 8 (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1078 [113 Cal.Rptr.3d 88], 101, review granted on Sept. 29, 2010, S185544.) Unable to locate a restriction on anyone else's speech, the court decided sua sponte that the Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 violate Ralphs's First Amendment right not to "accommodate" speech with which it disagrees. (Ralphs, supra, 113 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 101.) But the United States Supreme Court rejects the idea that a commercial property owner like Ralphs has a "negative" First Amendment right to exclude speech from its property. (Pruneyard Shopping Ctr. v. Robins (1980) 447 U.S. 74, 87; Rumsfeld v. Forum for Academic and Inst. Rights (2006) 547 U.S. 47, 65 ["FAIR"].)

The Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 do not restrict speech; they limit common-law trespass and equity jurisdiction in cases arising from labor disputes. To the extent that they apply to speech concerning labor disputes, they are entirely speech-protective. Because they abridge no one's speech, they cannot violate the First Amendment.

Even if the Moscone Act and Labor Code § 1138.1 did not apply, the Union had a right under California's Constitution to criticize Ralphs's business practices on the sidewalks and parking lot in front of the grocery store.

The shopping center in which the store is located is a public forum under *Pruneyard*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d 899. The shopping center's name—

College Square—evokes a town center, and its integrated sidewalks, openair restaurants, courtyards, and landscaping invite the public to do more
than simply shop. College and high-school students from nearby schools
congregate in the mall's courtyards. On College Square's walkways and in
its parking lot, missionaries spread the gospel, vendors hawk newspaper
subscriptions, tamales, fireworks and other goods, and political advocates
press their causes and solicit signatures for petitions. Like the Union, these
citizens recognize the mall for what it is—a public meeting place in a
suburban area where traditional public spaces are largely absent.

The Third Appellate District acknowledged that College Square is a *Pruneyard*-type shopping center, but ruled that sidewalks and parking lots fronting stores in such malls are categorically non-public under California's Constitution. According to the court, such sidewalks and parking lots are "not designed and presented to the public" as public spaces. (*Ralphs*, *supra*, 113 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 98.)

This holding jettisons *Pruneyard*'s central rationale—that the "public areas of the shopping mall are replacing the streets and sidewalks of the central business district, which 'have immemorially been held in trust for the use of the public and, time out of mind, have been used for purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between citizens, and discussing public questions." (*Fashion Valley Mall, LLC v. NLRB* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 850, 858.) It ignores the evidence in this case that College Square's

walkways and parking lot are treated as places of public communication, and that the only way of traversing the mall is by use of these functional equivalents to the central business district's "streets and sidewalks." The Third Appellate District improperly expanded *Pruneyard's* exception for "modest retail establishments" to swallow the constitutional rule. (*Cf. Pruneyard, supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 910.)

The effect is particularly pernicious in this case. This Court recognizes that "citizens have a strengthened interest, not a diminished interest, in speech that presents a grievance against a particular business in a privately owned shopping center, including speech that advocates a boycott." (Fashion Valley, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 864; Schwartz-Torrance Investment Corporation v. Bakery & Confectionary Workers' Union (1964) 61 Cal.2d 766; In re Lane (1969) 71 Cal.2d 872.) But Ralphs urges an interpretation of California's Constitution under which it may hold the sidewalks fronting its store open to vendors, political groups, missionaries and others, but create a cordon sanitaire in which criticism of its business practices is prohibited. This inverts the constitutional values espoused by this Court for over four decades.

In short, the decision below struck down two statutes that the Legislature enacted to limit the power of the State's courts. It misapplied content-discrimination doctrine in a manner that conflicts with precedent and would call into question many California and federal laws. It created a

new "negative" First Amendment right to exclude speakers from commercial property that the United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected. And it placed the sidewalks and parking lots abutting retail stores in *Pruneyard*-type shopping centers categorically outside of California's free-speech clause, even when those sidewalks are used to criticize a store's business practices.

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Third Appellate District's profoundly destabilizing decision.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Factual Background

Ralphs operates a Foods Co grocery store in a mixed-use, outdoor shopping center in South Sacramento called College Square. College Square's name derives from its proximity to Consumnes River College. The shopping center includes restaurants, other retail establishments, a bank, nail and hair salons, and several storefronts that had not yet been leased at the time of trial. (RT 20, 21, 35-36, 70-71.)¹ Several of the mall's restaurants have outdoor seating areas. (2JA 0431; 3JA 0581-0582.)

There are three common courtyards in College Square, one of which is directly adjacent to Foods Co and connected to the store by a sidewalk that passes the store's entrance. (3JA 0486, 508-512.) College Square's

¹ The Record of Transcript below is referred to as "RT." The Joint Appendix is referred to by volume and page number, i.e., "3JA 000."

courtyards offer benches, eating tables, a mechanical hobbyhorse for children, vending machines, shade trees and other landscaping. (RT 34-35; 3JA 0486, 508-512.) The mall invites visitors, including students from Consumnes River College and a nearby high school, to congregate in these courtyards, as they often do. (2JA 0435; 3JA 0508-0511.)

The public accesses the courtyards and the center's stores by following a shared driveway to a shared parking lot containing several hundred parking spaces. (RT 26, 37.) The bordering public sidewalks along West Stockton Boulevard connect to the walkways within College Square. (3JA 0512.) These walkways wind through the center, allowing visitors to stroll from shop to restaurant and to any of the three courtyards. (3JA 511-512.) There are no segregated areas designated for Foods Co customers only.

The Union began protesting in front of Foods Co in July 2007, shortly after the store opened. (See RT 10.) The Union publicized Foods Co's non-union status and its failure to provide adequate family health benefits, which undermines the viability of benefits provided at Foods Co's union competitors. (See 3JA 0489.) Protestors held picket signs announcing the Union's dispute with Foods Co and offered leaflets to customers, asking them to boycott the store and suggesting alternative stores in the area. (RT 12, 28, 58; JA 0489.)

It is undisputed that the picketing and leafleting was entirely peaceful. (RT 57.) The Union required its picketers to act with courtesy and allow space for customer entry. (3JA 0494.) The demonstrators did not enter the store or block ingress or egress. (3JA 494-495.) They did not approach shoppers before they exited their cars. (3JA 494.) There was no vandalism. (RT 26-27.) No customers were prevented from shopping. The trial court specifically found that there was no evidence of any violence, threats, fraud, or property damage. (3JA 642-643.)

During the time that the Union protested at the store, other groups and individuals used College Square and the sidewalk in front of Foods Co to convey their messages. Missionaries distributed materials and solicited money from College Square visitors, often on the walkway in front of Foods Co. (RT 59, 66; 3JA 498-504.) Solicitors for the Sacramento Bee stood inside the doors of Foods Co, approaching shoppers to sell subscriptions. (RT 33, 58, 63-64; 3JA 502-503.) Signature-gatherers seeking support for political petitions used the sidewalk in front of Foods Co. (RT 31, 64, 66-67; 3JA 504-507.) A group was permitted to sell fireworks and distribute advertisements in the parking lot. (RT 34.) Other individuals sold items by approaching College Square visitors in the parking lot and on the sidewalk in front of Foods Co. (RT 58.)

Ralphs responded to the Union's protest by displaying a poster presenting its side of the dispute and asserting that it pays "competitive

wages and benefits." (3JA 0492.) Then, after six months of peaceful protest, Ralphs created onerous new rules to limit the Union's criticism. (RT 24; 3JA 487-488.) The new policy prohibited any demonstrating from Sunday through Friday between 11:00 a.m. and 1:30 p.m. and between 4:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m. (3JA 487-488.) It banned all demonstrating in the weeks preceding Martin Luther King Day, Presidents Day, Easter, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day and Halloween. (*Ibid.*) The rules also limited the number of demonstrators on the sidewalk to two people and banned all expressive activity in the parking lot. (*Ibid.*)

The Union continued its demonstration, maintaining the same behavior and hours it had established, as did the missionaries, signature-gatherers, subscription agents, and other solicitors who used the walkway and parking lot. (RT 62-67.) After several more months, Ralphs sought an injunction to force the Union—and only the Union—to comply with its restrictive rules.

Procedural Background

On April 17, 2008, the trial court issued an order to show cause on Ralphs's preliminary injunction motion. (1JA 0158-0161.) On May 28, 2008, it issued an order addressing its jurisdiction. It held that the Moscone Act "constitutes content-based discrimination that violates the 1st amendment and Equal Protection Clause." (2JA 0441.) The trial court erroneously stated that "[n]o California Court has addressed the equal

protection argument raised by Ralphs with regard to the Moscone Act." (*Ibid.*) When the Union pointed to *M Restaurants v. San Francisco Local Joint Executive Bd.* (1981) 124 Cal.App.3d 666, 674-78, which upheld the Moscone Act over an equal protection challenge, the trial court refused to reconsider. (3JA 0477, 0639.)

The trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing on whether Ralphs met Labor Code § 1138.1's requirements for injunctive relief and "to determine whether the location is a public forum, and if so whether the rules imposed by Ralphs constitute reasonable time, place and manner restrictions." (3JA 0442.)

After the evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the preliminary injunction, finding that Ralphs had "failed to submit evidence sufficient to carry its burden on any of the factors enumerated in section 1138.1." (3JA 0640.) The court noted that "[t]he evidence established that other persons on the property to solicit money or signatures for their own causes placed themselves in the zone that Ralphs had declared off-limits (e.g. in front of the doors) but apparently did not cause any undue disruption to Ralphs' business since little effort was made to remove them." (*Ibid.*) It also held that Ralphs's time, place and manner restrictions were unreasonable under *Fashion Valley*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th 850, implicitly recognizing that College Square and the sidewalk in front of the store are public forums. (3JA 0640.)

The trial court issued an Order Denying Motion for Preliminary Injunction on October 3, 2008. (3JA 639-643.)

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