# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### RALPHS GROCERY COMPANY,

SUPREME COURT

Plaintiff and Appellant,

٧.

JAN 3 1 2011

### UNITED FOOD AND COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION LOCAL 8,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C060413

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MIRIAM A. VOGEL (SBN 67822) TIMOTHY F. RYAN (SBN 51488) TRITIA M. MURATA (SBN 234344)

### **MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP**

555 West Fifth Street, Suite 3500 Los Angeles, California 90013-1024 Telephone: 213.892.5200

Facsimile: 213.892.5454

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant,
RALPHS GROCERY COMPANY

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

### I. FOODS CO'S SACRAMENTO STORE IS NOT THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF A PUBLIC FORUM.

# A. Foods Co's Sacramento store is the quintessential modest retail establishment contemplated by *Pruneyard*.

As the Court of Appeal correctly held, Foods Co's Sacramento store is not the functional equivalent of a traditional public forum within the meaning of Pruneyard, supra, 23 Cal.3d 899 or Fashion Valley, supra, 42 Cal.4th 850. Leaving to one side the fact that California is one of only five states imposing quasi-public obligations on property that is otherwise privately owned and open to the public only for commercial purposes (Fashion Valley, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 870, 874-876, dissenting opn. of Chin, J.; Hudgens v. NLRB (1976) 424 U.S. 507, 517-521 (Hudgens) [federal law does not follow Pruneyard]; UFCW, Local 919 v. Crystal Mall Assocs., L.P. (Conn. 2004) 852 A.2d 659, 666-669), there is no factual reason in this case to extend the public forum doctrine to Foods Co's modest retail establishment where people come only to shop, not to congregate, socialize or be entertained. (Albertson's, supra, 107 Cal.App.4th at p. 111.)

Neither is there any *legal* reason to make that leap of logic. California's intermediate reviewing courts have consistently refused to extend *Pruneyard* to modest retail establishments, allowing them to restrict and even prohibit expressive activities on their private property, and this Court has never questioned those decisions. (*Trader Joe's Co., supra*, 73 Cal.App.4th at p. 428 [affirming preliminary injunction barring signature solicitations at a stand-alone store]; *Costco, supra*, 96 Cal.App.4th 740 [stand-alone store sharing a parking lot with other

businesses may prohibit all expressive activity]; *Albertson's*, *supra*, 107 Cal.App.4th at p. 115 [affirming preliminary injunction barring expressive activity at store within small commercial center because, taken "as a whole, *Pruneyard* implies that smaller privately owned commercial establishments that do not assume the societal role of a town center may prohibit expressive activity unrelated to the business enterprise"]; 10 *Slevin*, *supra*, 120 F.Supp.2d 822 [applying California law and holding that privately owned apron in front of store not transformed into public property by hot dog stand or modest seating area]; *Target*, *supra*, 155 Cal.App.4th 1375, 1377 [no signature gathering in area surrounding individual retail store "even when that store is part of a larger shopping center"].)11

For this reason, we respectfully submit that this Court's first issue (at least as framed in its news release and on its website) is mistaken insofar as

Albertson's Fowler Center store in Nevada County: "Fowler Center is not a mall, and it does not contain any courtyards, plazas, picnic areas, gardens, educational facilities, health clubs, or gyms. All of the businesses are accessed from the large parking lot. The parking area and sidewalks in the center are available for the common use of the property owners, tenants, and customers for movement among the businesses at the center." (Albertsons, supra, 107 Cal.App.4th at p. 110.)

And see Golden Gateway Center v. Golden Gateway Tenants Assn. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1013, 1016, 1031-1033 [affirming a preliminary injunction prohibiting tenants' association from distributing newsletter in residential portion of retail apartment complex because the property was not freely and openly accessible to the public]; Planned Parenthood, supra, 234 Cal.App.3d 1662 [private parking area of medical center is not equivalent of traditional public forum]; Allred v. Shawley (1991) 232 Cal.App.3d 1489 [same]; Allred v. Harris, supra, 14 Cal.App.4th 1386 [same]; Feminist Women's Health Center v. Blythe (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1641 [same]; Bank of Stockton, supra, 44 Cal.App.4th 1623 [religious organization may not solicit on bank's private property].

it appears to assume that Foods Co's College Square store is located in a *Pruneyard*-type shopping center. As the evidence shows and as the Court of Appeal put it, our Sacramento store is indistinguishable from the standalone stores described in *Target* and *Albertson's*. (Slip Opn. 12.)

### B. Foods Co has the right to prohibit all expressive activity on its premises.

Much of the Union's merits brief misses the point. Ignoring Foods Co's property rights, the Union rambles on about the Legislature's right to determine the grounds for equitable relief and the circumstances in which injunctions may be granted (OB 3-4), and concludes that Foods Co has no "constitutional right" to any particular remedy for "state-law torts." (OB 4-6.) The Union is wrong. When the government compels free public use of private property in a manner that interferes with the property owner's reasonable investment-backed expectations, that government action will constitute a taking of property prohibited by the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (*U.S. PruneYard*, *supra*, 447 U.S. at pp. 82-84 ["one of the essential sticks in the bundle of property rights is the right to exclude others," and that right is protected only if the owner is allowed to adopt time, place and manner rules to "minimize any interference with its commercial functions"].)

U.S. PruneYard rejected the takings claim because the PruneYard had all the attributes of a public forum, the interference was slight, and the mall had the right to require compliance with its reasonable time, place and manner regulations. In this case, Foods Co's Sacramento store has none of the attributes of a public forum, the interference is significant, and the trial court held that we do *not* have the right to enforce our rules against the Union.

Foods Co submits that the Union cannot compel the result it seeks — unrestricted access to private property — by asking the wrong question or by suggesting that labor activity as a societal goal outweighs every property owner's Fifth Amendment rights. (OB 4.) As we will show, the Moscone Act and section 1138.1 are not mere "[t]argeted procedural safeguards" as the Union contends (OB 5) — they are constitutionally infirm preferences for labor activities at the expense of all other First Amendment speech and, as the Union would have them enforced, they would deprive private property owners of the right to use their property as they see fit.

# II. THE SPECIAL PROTECTION AFFORDED TO LABOR ACTIVITY BY THE MOSCONE ACT AND SECTION 1138.1 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL CONTENT-BASED DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT.

The Court of Appeal held that the Moscone Act (which deprives California's courts of jurisdiction to enjoin labor-related activities) and section 1138.1 (independently making it virtually impossible to obtain injunctive relief against labor activities) violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because both statutes impermissibly favor labor speech over all other speech. The Court of Appeal got it right.

#### A. The Moscone Act.

The Moscone Act provides that "no court nor any judge nor judges thereof, shall have jurisdiction to issue any restraining order or preliminary or permanent injunction which, in specific or general terms, prohibits any person or persons, whether singly or in concert, from [lawfully picketing, distributing leaflets, or doing any other peaceable act related to collective bargaining disputes]." (§ 527.3, subd. (b).)<sup>12</sup> In short, the Moscone Act immunizes labor-related speech on private property — and *only* labor-related speech — from California's trespass law, thereby permitting the

More specifically, section 527.3 provides: "(a) In order to promote the rights of workers to engage in concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining, picketing or other mutual aid or protection, and to prevent the evils which frequently occur when courts interfere with the normal processes of dispute resolution between employers and recognized employee organizations, the equity jurisdiction of the courts in cases involving or growing out of a labor dispute shall be no broader than as set forth in subdivision (b) of this section, and the provisions of subdivision (b) of this section shall be strictly construed in accordance with existing law governing labor disputes with the purpose of avoiding any unnecessary judicial interference in labor disputes. (b) The acts enumerated in this subdivision ... shall be legal, and no court nor any judge nor judges thereof, shall have jurisdiction to issue any restraining order or preliminary or permanent injunction which, in specific or general terms, prohibits any person or persons . . . from doing any of the following: [¶] (1) Giving publicity to . . . any labor dispute . . . [¶] (2) Peaceful picketing or patrolling involving any labor dispute . . . [¶] (3) Assembling peaceably to do any of the acts specified in paragraphs (1) and (2) or to promote lawful interests. [¶] (4) '[L]abor dispute' is defined as follows: [¶] (i) A case shall be held to involve or to grow out of a labor dispute when the case involves persons who are engaged in the same industry, trade, craft, or occupation; or have direct or indirect interests therein; or who are employees of the same employer; or who are members of the same or an affiliated organization of employers or employees; . . . [¶] . . . [¶] (iii) The term "labor dispute" includes any controversy concerning terms or conditions of employment, or concerning the association or representation of persons in negotiating, fixing, maintaining, changing, or seeking to arrange terms or conditions of employment regardless of whether or not the disputants stand in the proximate relation of employer and employee.  $[\P] \dots [\P] \dots [\P]$  (e) It is not the intent of this section to permit conduct that is unlawful including breach of the peace, disorderly conduct, the unlawful blocking of access or egress to premises where a labor dispute exists, or other similar unlawful activity." (Emphasis added.)

Union to enter onto private property under circumstances in which all other forms of expressive activities could be prohibited and judicially enjoined.

In declaring the Moscone Act unconstitutional, the Court of Appeal (i) relied on two United States Supreme Court cases prohibiting content-based discrimination that favors labor unions (*Mosley*, *supra*, 408 U.S. 92 and *Carey*, *supra*, 447 U.S. 455), (ii) rejected a number of inconsistent California cases because they failed to consider the First Amendment implications of their decisions (*Schwartz-Torrance*, *supra*, 61 Cal.2d 766, *Lane*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d 872, *Sears II*, *supra*, 25 Cal.3d 317, *Cal Waremart*, *supra*, 87 Cal.App.4th 145, and *M Restaurants*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d 666, and (iii) adopted the reasoning of the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals in *Waremart Foods v. NLRB* (D.C. Cir. 2004) 354 F.3d 870 (*D.C. Waremart*) to support its decision that the Moscone Act is constitutionally infirm. (Slip Opn. 17-28.) The Court of Appeal reached the right result for the right reasons.

#### 1. Mosley and Carey

Mosley. The Chicago ordinance before the United States Supreme Court in Mosley, supra, 408 U.S. at page 93, defined "disorderly conduct" to include a person who picketed within 150 feet of any school building while school was in session but expressly exempted "the peaceful picketing of any school involved in a labor dispute." Ed Mosley, who had for many months walked the streets around a high school carrying a sign accusing the school of racial discrimination, challenged the ordinance by a suit for declaratory relief. (Ibid.) The District Court dismissed the complaint but the Seventh Circuit reversed and that decision was affirmed by the United States Supreme Court on the ground that "the ordinance is unconstitutional because it makes an impermissible distinction between labor picketing and

other peaceful picketing." (*Id.* at p. 94.) Under the First and Fourteenth Amendments, said the Court, "government may not grant the use of a forum to people whose views it finds acceptable, but deny use to those wishing to express less favored or more controversial views." (*Id.* at p. 96.) Because the Moscone Act, like the ordinance in *Mosley*, "describes permissible picketing in terms of its subject matter" (*id.* at p. 95), the Moscone Act fails for precisely the same reason the Chicago ordinance failed. (*Id.* at p. 94 [a statute is unconstitutional if "it makes an impermissible distinction between labor picketing and other peaceful picketing"].)

Carey. Eight years after Mosley, the United States Supreme Court revisited the content-discrimination issue in Carey, supra, 447 U.S. 455, where the statute at issue prohibited picketing of residences but exempted "the peaceful picketing of a place of employment involved in a labor dispute." (Id. at p. 457.) Not surprisingly, the Court found this residential picketing statute "constitutionally indistinguishable from the ordinance invalidated in Mosley" (id. at p. 460) and concluded that it impermissibly "discriminated on the basis of "the content of the demonstrator's communication." (*Ibid.*) The Supreme Court rejected the appellant's claim that the state's interest in providing special protection for labor protests justified the discrimination, holding that the "central difficulty with this argument is that it forthrightly presupposes that labor picketing is more deserving of First Amendment protection than are public protests over other issues, particularly the important economic, social, and political subjects [of concern to the picketers in this case]. We reject that proposition.... While the State's motivation in protecting the First Amendment rights of employees involved in labor disputes is commendable, that factor, without

more, cannot justify the labor picketing exemption." (Id. at pp. 466-467, emphasis added.)

The Moscone Act. As the Court of Appeal pointed out, the only difference between our case and the laws at issue in Mosley and Carey is that the Moscone Act "selectively allows speech in a private forum based on the content of the speech by withdrawing the remedy of the property owner or possessor while the laws scrutinized in Mosley and Carey selectively excluded speech from a public forum based on content. This difference, however, is not legally significant. The effect on speech is the same: the law favors speech related to labor disputes over speech related to other matters — it forces [Foods Co] to provide a forum for speech based on its content." (Slip Opn. 21-22, italics added.)<sup>13</sup>

### 2. Sears II, Lane, and their progeny.

Just as the Court of Appeal correctly followed the United States Supreme Court's decisions in *Mosley* and *Carey*, so too did it properly find that the California cases reaching a different result were wrongly decided.

In Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego County Dist. Council of Carpenters (1976) 17 Cal.3d 893 (Sears I), this Court held that the National

<sup>13</sup> The Union's reliance on Senn v. Tile Layers Protective Union (1937) 301 U.S. 468 (OB 27, 30) is misplaced. In Senn — which predates Mosley and Carey by four decades — the United States Supreme Court rejected an equal protection challenge to Wisconsin's Little Norris-LaGuardia statute by an individual claiming his right to earn a living was unconstitutionally impinged by labor picketing targeted against him. Senn dealt with picketing on a public street, and did not in any context consider the First Amendment or content discrimination issues addressed years later in Mosley and Carey. (Slip. Op. 26.)

Labor Relations Act (NLRA) deprived the superior court of jurisdiction to issue an injunction prohibiting picketing on Sears' private walkways and parking lot. The United States Supreme Court reversed, holding that the labor preemption doctrine did not apply to the trespassory aspects of union picketing. (Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego County Dist. Council of Carpenters (1978) 436 U.S. 180, 198-208 (Sears).) On remand, this Court upheld the then newly enacted Moscone Act, finding that peaceful picketing on privately owned sidewalks outside the employer's store is not subject to injunctive relief. (Sears II, supra, 25 Cal.3d at pp. 332-333.)

The Court of Appeal found *Sears II* flawed because it did not consider the First Amendment issues decided by *Mosley* and *Carey*. (*Sears II*, *supra*, 25 Cal.3d at pp. 327-328, fn. 5; *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 ["An opinion is not authority for propositions not considered"].) For the same reason, the Court of Appeal correctly rejected *Lane*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d 872, <sup>14</sup> *Schwartz-Torrance*, *supra*, 61 Cal.2d 766, <sup>15</sup> *M Restaurants*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.3d

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